# RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 04-30-2015

IN SUPREME COUR CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

#### No. 2011AP2680-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

PATRICK J. LYNCH,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT APPEALS, DISTRICT IV, AFFIRMING AN ORDER BARRING TESTIMONY, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DODGE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ANDREW P. BISSONNETTE PRESIDING

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT-PETITIONER, STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MARGUERITE M. MOELLER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1017389

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Should this court overrule *State v. Shiffra*, 175 Wis. 2d 600, 499 N.W.2d 719 (Ct. App. 1993), because it erroneously held that the Due Process Clause as interpreted in *Pennsylvania v. Ritchie*, 480 U.S. 39 (1987), mandates the pretrial in camera review and potential disclosure of privileged, privately held mental health records whenever a criminal defendant makes a preliminary showing of materiality?

The State did not present this issue to the lower courts because they are bound by *Shiffra*.

2. Shiffra held that under the circumstances there, barring the complainant from testifying was the only way to protect Shiffra's right to a fair trial following her refusal to submit her records for in camera review after Shiffra made a preliminary showing of materiality.

Assuming this court affirms *Shiffra*'s due-process holding, should it clarify that witness preclusion is not automatic whenever a witness refuses to waive her privilege under Wis. Stat. § 905.04 after the defendant has made the showing required by *Shiffra*, as modified by *State v. Green*, 2002 WI 68, 253 Wis. 2d 356, 646 N.W.2d 298?

The lower courts found that *Shiffra* left them no choice but to preclude A.M. from testifying based on her refusal to submit her records for in camera review, and the court of appeals declined the State's request to certify the issue to this court.

3. May a circuit court use Wis. Stat. § 146.82(2)(a)4. to require production of privately held privileged records regardless of whether the privilege-holder consents? The lower courts found themselves bound by language in *Shiffra* that they believe forecloses this remedy, and the court of appeals declined the State's request to certify the issue to this court.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

As in any case important enough to merit this court's review, both oral argument and publication of the court's opinion are warranted.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In a criminal complaint filed December 22, 2010, Patrick J. Lynch was charged in Dodge County Circuit Court with first degree sexual assault of a child, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1), and three counts of stalking, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.32(2) (1:2-3). The sexual assault charge in count one and the stalking charge in count two involved the same alleged victim, A.M.<sup>1</sup>

A.M. reported that Lynch had put his penis and fingers into her vagina during the summer of 1989, when she was just seven years old (id.:4). Lynch was a law enforcement officer (31:19, 32) and "good friends" with A.M.'s father (id.:27), who was convicted of sexually assaulting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A.M. is identified as "A" in the complaint (1:4-5), but the State in its brief will refer to her by both of her initials, as it did in the court of appeals and as that court did in its opinion.

A.M. on multiple occasions in the early 1990's (96:2; Pet-Ap. 130).

The stalking charge in count two was based on alleged conduct that occurred during 2007 and 2008, while A.M. was employed as a teller at a bank in Beaver Dam (1:4-5).

Following a preliminary hearing<sup>2</sup> on February 1, 2011 (31), Lynch was bound over for trial. An information charging him with three counts of first degree sexual assault of a child and three counts of stalking was filed February 17, 2011 (27). All of the sexual assault counts and one stalking count involve A.M. (95:1-2).<sup>3</sup>

Lynch filed a motion seeking an in camera inspection of "all psychiatric, psychological, counseling, therapy and clinical records" of A.M. compiled by Dr. Sionag Black, Dr. Rachel Heilzer, or "others" from 1993 to 2011 (48:2). He claimed that "failure to conduct the *in camera* review being requested would deny the defendant his constitutional right to present a defense guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution, and Article I Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution" (*id*.:3).

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Only that portion of the preliminary hearing containing A.M.'s testimony has been transcribed (*see* 31:1-48).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The trial court on September 6, 2011, granted Lynch's motion to sever counts five and six, both of which involve a victim other than A.M. *See* 95:3-4, 13. The court ordered that the counts involving A.M. be tried first. *Id*.:13.

The State gave Lynch a portion of what he requested, turning over hundreds of pages of discovery to him. As part of that disclosure, the State provided Lynch with formerly privileged therapy and medical records of A.M. that are no longer privileged because they were released in connection with the trial of her father (47; 51:1). The State objected to Lynch's motion for in camera review of other therapy records that remained privileged, however, on the ground that Lynch failed to establish a constitutional right to review (*see generally* 51).

The circuit court granted Lynch's motion for in camera review (96; Pet-Ap. 129-44). It ordered A.M. to "identify for the Court the names and addresses of all of her treatment providers since January 1, 1990" and to "sign a release of records authorizing the Court to obtain such records for the specific purpose of an *in camera* review by the Court" (96:14; Pet-Ap. 142). The circuit court stated that "if A.M. refuses to allow the Court access to her records, her testimony shall be barred at trial" (96:15; Pet-Ap. 143).

A.M. notified the prosecutor that she would not release her therapy records "[u]nless and until" the circuit court's order is reviewed by another court or the prosecution declines to appeal (97). Based on her decision, the circuit court entered an order barring A.M. from testifying at Lynch's trial (110:2-3; Pet-Ap. 126-27). The State appealed the order to the Wisconsin Court of Appeals. After the parties' briefs-in-chief were filed, the appellate court on May 24, 2012, stayed the appeal until this court had either denied the petition for review in *State v. Johnson*, No. 2011AP2864-CRAC or, having granted review, issued a decision in that case.

This court issued a per curiam opinion in *Johnson* on July 3, 2013. *State v. Johnson*, 2013 WI 59, 348 Wis. 2d 450, 832 N.W.2d 609 (*Johnson I*). Both parties moved for reconsideration. Eight months later, this court granted Johnson's motion for reconsideration and issued a second per curiam opinion. The court declared that because it had deadlocked, the court of appeals' decision remained the law of the case. *State v. Johnson*, 2014 WI 16, 353 Wis. 2d 119, 846 N.W.2d 1 (*Johnson II*).<sup>4</sup>

On August 8, 2013, the court of appeals lifted its stay, and the State shortly thereafter filed its reply brief. On November 6, 2014, the court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's order barring A.M. from testifying and remanded for further proceedings. The State filed a petition for review, which this court granted on March 16, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Pursuant to the court of appeals' decision, the complainant in *Johnson* was barred from testifying at his trial. *State v. Johnson*, No. 2011AP2864-CRAC, slip op.  $\P\P2$ , 17, 19 (Wis. Ct. App. Apr. 18, 2012) (Pet-Ap. 147, 151, 152).

#### ARGUMENT

I. Shiffra Erroneously Held That *Pennsylvania v. Ritchie* Applies To **Privately Held Privileged** Records The Government Has Never Possessed, Thereby Creating A Due-**Process Right To Pretrial Discovery** Conflict With Supreme In Court Jurisprudence.

In State v. Shiffra, 175 Wis. 2d 600, 499 N.W.2d 719 (Ct. App. 1993), the court upheld a pretrial order suppressing the testimony of an alleged sexual assault victim because she refused to allow an in camera inspection of her mental health treatment records. The court framed the first issue as "whether an *in camera* inspection is warranted under Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39 (1987)." Id. at 602. The court of appeals said a defendant would be entitled to in camera review if he could "make a preliminary showing that the sought-after evidence is relevant and may be helpful to the defense or is necessary to a fair determination of guilt or innocence." Id. at 608. In adopting this standard, the court analogized to cases in which a defendant seeks disclosure of a government informant's identity, such as Roviaro v. United States, 353 U.S. 53 (1957). Shiffra, 175 Wis. 2d at 608. The court found that in both situations, it was required "to balance the defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial against the state's interest in protecting its citizens by upholding a

statutorily created privilege." *Shiffra*'s holding is based solely on due process. *See id.* at 605 n.1.

Later modified by *State v. Green*, 2002 WI 68, 253 Wis. 2d 356, 646 N.W.2d 298, *Shiffra* has been the law in Wisconsin for over twenty years. During that time, the State has periodically urged this court to find that *Shiffra* was wrongly decided, largely because of what the State perceives to be its misplaced reliance on *Ritchie*, where the investigative files at issue were in the government's possession. The State's most recent attempt was in *Johnson II*, which culminated in a five-justice<sup>5</sup> per curiam opinion that did not resolve the merits of the underlying issues. *See* 353 Wis. 2d 119.

As in *Johnson*, the State begins by asking this court to revisit and overrule *Shiffra*.

A. Shiffra failed to explain why Ritchie, a case premised on the government's obligation under Brady to disclose evidence in its possession that is favorable to the defense, logically should apply to privately held records to which the government has no access.

In *Shiffra*, the State argued that one reason the complainant's mental health records were not subject to in camera review under *Ritchie* was that they were not in the

 $<sup>^5</sup>$  Justices Prosser and Gableman did not participate in the Johnson appeal.

Page 20 of 59

possession of the prosecution or any other state agency. 175 Wis. 2d at 606. In rejecting this argument, the court of appeals declared itself bound by Wisconsin precedent which "makes *Ritchie* applicable to cases in which the information sought by the defense . . . is not in the possession of the state." *Id.* at 606-07. The precedent cited was *In Interest of K.K.C.*, 143 Wis. 2d 508, 422 N.W.2d 142 (Ct. App. 1988), and *State v. S.H.*, 159 Wis. 2d 730, 465 N.W.2d 238 (Ct. App. 1990). *See Shiffra*, 175 Wis. 2d at 607.

While *Shiffra* was technically correct in saying that *K.K.C.* did not involve records in the State's possession, *K.K.C.* did involve government records, i.e., records of the Rock County Department of Social Services. Because the records in *K.K.C.* were not privately held, that decision hardly supports *Shiffra*'s application of *Ritchie* to privately held mental health treatment records.

As for S.H., neither the appellant nor the guardian for the minor children even cited *Ritchie* in their respective briefs-in-chief. *See Appendices and Briefs*, 159 Wis. (2D) 694-747, Tab 5.<sup>6</sup> Only the State cited *Ritchie*, taking the position it applied to records that admittedly were in the possession of a private counseling center. *S.H.*, 159 Wis. 2d at 733. Because there was no dispute as to *Ritchie*'s relevance, the court of appeals did not question its applicability but simply

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Appendices and Briefs can be found in the State Law Library.

accepted the State's assertion. But regardless of whether the S.H. court gave much consideration to whether *Ritchie* should apply in the context of privately held records, the court's adoption of *Ritchie* was dicta because it found that S.H. had abandoned the *Ritchie* issue on appeal. *Id.* at 738. See American Family Mut. Ins. Co. v. Shannon, 120 Wis. 2d 560, 565, 356 N.W.2d 175 (1984) ("dictum is a statement not addressed to the question before the court or necessary for its decision"). Because the court's adoption of *Ritchie* was dicta, the *Shiffra* court erred in believing itself bound by S.H. State v. Matson, 2003 WI App 253, ¶ 24, 268 Wis. 2d 725, 674 N.W.2d 51 ("we are not bound by statements that are dicta").

But even if *S.H.'s* application of *Ritchie* to privately held records did bind the court of appeals in *Shiffra*, *S.H.*'s. conclusion that *Ritchie* applies to privately held counseling records does not bind this court. *Shiffra* rests on the erroneous premise that *Ritchie* supports a constitutional due-process right to pretrial discovery of privately held privileged records, and this shaky foundation should itself prompt this court to revisit and overrule that decision. But the fact *Shiffra* is at odds with the well-settled principle that there is no due-process right to pretrial discovery is another reason to re-examine *Shiffra*. The State discusses each reason below.

The Supreme Court framed the issue in *Ritchie* as "whether and to what extent a State's interest in the confidentiality of its investigative files concerning child abuse must yield to a criminal defendant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to discover favorable evidence." 480 U.S. at 42-43. During pretrial discovery in his criminal prosecution for sex crimes against his minor daughter, Ritchie had served a subpoena on a protective service agency established by the State to investigate cases of suspected child mistreatment and neglect. The subpoena ordered the agency, Children and Youth Services (CYS), to turn over records relating to the charges against Ritchie, as well as earlier records compiled when CYS had investigated a separate report that his children were being abused. CYS refused to comply, claiming the records were privileged under a Pennsylvania statute which provides that all CYS records must be kept confidential, subject to eleven specific exceptions. One exception allowed the agency to disclose reports to a "court of competent jurisdiction pursuant to a court order." Id. at 44 (citing a Pennsylvania statute). After reviewing a portion of the CYS files, the trial judge refused to order CYS to disclose the files. Ritchie was ultimately convicted on all counts.

The Pennsylvania Supreme Court eventually vacated Ritchie's convictions, ruling that his rights to confrontation and compulsory process had been violated by the trial court's

Filed 05-01-2015

Page 23 of 59

refusal to order CYS to disclose its files to defense counsel. 480 U.S. at 45-46. The Supreme Court granted Pennsylvania's petition for a writ of certiorari.

In examining Ritchie's claim that withholding the file violated his right to compulsory process, the Court – after concluding that the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment offers no lesser protection than that conferred by compulsory process – adopted a due-process analysis. 480 U.S. at 56.<sup>7</sup> The Court began its discussion by citing three cases dealing with the government's duty to disclose evidence within its possession: *United States v. Bagley*, 473 U.S. 667 (1985); *United States v. Agurs*, 427 U.S. 97 (1976); and *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). 480 U.S. at 57.

Just as the CYS files were in the possession of a state agency, the evidence at issue in *Brady*, *Agurs* and *Bagley* was in the possession of the state (*Brady*) or the federal government (*Agurs* and *Bagley*). Unlike the situation in which a testimonial privilege belongs to a witness, the conflict between Ritchie's constitutional rights and the privileged character of the records he sought was not a conflict between a defendant and a private party. Rather, the privilege belonged to the Commonwealth of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> A four-member plurality summarily rejected Ritchie's confrontation claim, finding that the right to confrontation does not compel the pretrial disclosure of any and all information that might be useful in contradicting unfavorable testimony. *Pennsylvania v. Ritchie*, 480 U.S. 39, 53 (1987).

Pennsylvania rather than a private citizen. The Court's focus on the Commonwealth as privilege-holder is clear from its references to "the State's interest in confidentiality" (480 U.S. at 59) and "the Commonwealth's need to protect the confidentiality of those involved in child-abuse investigations" (*id.* at 61).

Nothing in *Ritchie* even hints that the High Court thought its rulings would apply to privileged records neither created by nor in the possession of the government. In fact, the plurality cited approvingly the declaration in Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545, 559 (1977), that "[t]here is no general constitutional right to discovery in a criminal case, and *Brady* did not create one." 480 U.S. at 59-60. Despite this language, Shiffra relied on Ritchie in creating a due-process right to pretrial discovery in a criminal case that is untethered from the government's obligation under *Brady* to disclose to the defense favorable evidence within the government's possession.

Applying a standard developed against the backdrop of the government's duty to disclose *Brady* evidence to privately held privileged records inaccessible to the government represented a quantum leap from *Ritchie* to *S.H.* and *Shiffra.* That quantum leap was ill-advised because, as numerous courts outside Wisconsin have recognized, *Ritchie*'s due-process analysis does not apply to records not within the government's possession. Moreover,

Page 25 of 59

as will be discussed in section I.C., the underlying premise in *Shiffra* conflicts with Supreme Court decisions like *Weatherford* and *Wardius v. Oregon*, 412 U.S. 470 (1973).

The year after *Ritchie*, the Vermont Supreme Court in State v. Percy, 548 A.2d 408, 415 (Vt. 1988), declared that "[t]he pretrial discovery right set out in *Ritchie* applies solely to information in the hands of the State." Since then, a host of other courts – state and federal – have reached the same conclusion. See, e.g., United States v. Hach, 162 F.3d 937, 947 (7th Cir. 1998)<sup>8</sup> ("While we have our doubts that the defendant can meet his burden of showing that the information in Richardson's records is material . . . his attempt to bootstrap onto *Ritchie* suffers from a graver problem—the evidence is not and never was in the government's possession."). See also United States v. Shrader, 716 F.Supp.2d 464, 473 (S.D.W.V. 2010) (Ritchie's *Brady* analysis inapplicable where records are not in possession of the government or a government agent); *People* v. Hammon, 938 P.2d 986, 991-93 (Cal. 1997) (refusing to extend *Ritchie* to grant pretrial discovery of a witness's privileged psychotherapy records); State v. Famiglietti, 817 So.2d 901, 907 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2002) (Ritchie is not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Because it is convinced that *Ritchie* applies only to evidence in the government's possession, the Seventh Circuit in *United States v. Hach*, 162 F.3d 937, 947 n.5 (7th Cir. 1998), erroneously concluded that Wisconsin cases like *Shiffra* are based on state law rather than the federal constitution.

Page 26 of 59

authority for proposition that due process clause authorizes invasion of a generally accepted testimonial privilege); *In re Subpoena to Crisis Connection, Inc.*, 949 N.E.2d 789, 799-802 (Ind. 2011) (*Ritchie*'s due-process analysis based on government's *Brady* obligation and does not apply to victimadvocate privilege, which excludes from its protection disclosure by persons affiliated with the State); *Goldsmith v. Maryland*, 651 A.2d 866, 873 (Md. 1995) ("Neither due process, compulsory process nor the right to confront adverse witnesses establishes a pre-trial right of a defendant to discovery review of a potential witness's privileged psychotherapy records").

In the words of the *Goldsmith* court,

[T]he psychotherapist-patient privileged records at issue in the instant case were not kept by a state agency or required to be kept by a state agency. Therefore no disclosure is required under *Brady*. Thus, not only does [a Maryland statute] prohibit discovery of the privileged records requested by Goldsmith, but nothing in *Ritchie* ... would constitutionally require the pre-trial discovery sought by Goldsmith of a private psychotherapist's records which are "shielded from all eyes," state or defense.

651 A.2d at 873.

B. Jaffee v. Redmond strongly suggests that the Supreme Court would not extend *Ritchie* to records covered by an absolute privilege that are inaccessible to the government.

Subsequent to *Ritchie*, the Supreme Court in *Jaffee v*. *Redmond*, 518 U.S. 1 (1996), recognized a psychotherapistpatient privilege under Rule 501 of the Federal Rules of Evidence. In doing so, the Court rejected the view that the privilege should be balanced against the need for evidence in a given case:

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