# **RECEIVED** 08-19-2015

IN SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2011AP2680-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

PATRICK J. LYNCH,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Review of the Order of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals, District IV

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

Robert R. Henak State Bar No. 1016803 Ellen Henak State Bar No. 1012490

State Bar No. 1024261

HENAK LAW OFFICE, S.C. 316 North Milwaukee St, # 535 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 283-9300 CHRISTOPHER T. VAN WAGNER SC 110 East Main, Suite 705 Madison WI 53703 (608) 284-1200

Christopher T. Van Wagner

Counsel for Defendant-Appellant

#

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Other states have imposed procedures less protective of the witness, allowing direct access to privileged records by the attorneys upon a proper showing before trial without a prior *in camera* review. *E.g.*, *Com. v. Barroso*, 122 S.W.3d 554, 561–62 (Ky.2003); *Com. v. Stockhammer*, 409 Mass. 867, 570 N.E.2d 992 (1991).

Page 27 of 41

Moreover, the real issue here is not *whether* the balancing test will be performed but *when*. State's Brief at 8-15; *see*, *e.g.*, *Goldsmith v. State*, 337 Md. 112, 651 A.2d 866, 870-71 (1995). The rights to compulsory process and to present a defense necessarily entitle the defendant to subpoena relevant therapy providers to trial. Indeed, even the court quoted by the state as rejecting application of *Ritchie* to records in private hands imposes a *Shiffra/Green*-type analysis to disclosure of such records at trial. *State v. Johnson*, 440 Md. 228, 102 A.3d 295, 301-03 (2014), distinguishing *Goldsmith*, *supra* on these grounds.

The end result likely would be a pretrial assessment in any event. Any therapist subpoena likely would provoke a motion to quash that generally would be heard prior to trial under Wis. Stats. §906.11 to avoid delay and inconveniencing the jury. *E.g.*, *State v. McClaren*, 2009 WI 69, ¶3, 318 Wis.2d 739, 767 N.W.2d 550 ("Foreseeing potential obstacles to a smoothly run trial and taking the necessary steps to avoid them is manifestly within the inherent power of a circuit court").

Finally, this Court already has imposed a *Shiffra/Green* type analysis in many other contexts on purely public policy grounds even where the right to present a defense does not apply. In *Johnson v. Rogers Memorial Hosp., Inc.*, 2005 WI 114, ¶¶58-76, 283 Wis.2d 384, 700 N.W.2d 27, this Court held that, given the significant harm caused by being falsely accused of child sexual abuse, public policy and the balancing of interests requires a limited exception to therapist-patient privilege. A *Shiffra/Green*-type analysis and *in camera* review procedure is justified where the victims of alleged negligence by a therapist in implanting and reinforcing false memories of physical and sexual abuse sue the therapist. *See also Lane*, 2002 WI 28, ¶¶52-56 (*in camera* review required for materials that may be subject to attorney-client privilege).

*In camera* review also can occur when courts need to determine if records (such as prison conduct reports) should be released under an open record request, *see, e.g., George v. Knick*, 188 Wis. 2d 594, 525

N.W.2d 143 (Ct. App. 1994), whether confidential prison personnel records should be released, *State v. Navarro*, 2001 WI App 225, 248 Wis.2d 396, 636 N.W.2d 481, whether juvenile records should be released in civil cases, *In re Termination of Parental Rights to Caleb J.F.*, 269 Wis.2d 709, 676 N.W.2d 545 (Ct. App. 2004), and whether the defendant's juvenile records should be released in criminal cases, *State v. Moore*, 295 Wis.2d 514, 721 N.W.2d 725 (Ct. App. 2006).

# D. The *Shiffra/Green* Analysis Does Not Conflict With Supreme Court Authority

As it did unsuccessfully in *Johnson*, the state again attempts to argue that the *Shiffra/Green* analysis somehow conflicts with United States Supreme Court authority recognizing a federal psychotherapist-patient privilege under Fed. R. Evid. 501 and two pre-*Ritchie* Supreme Court decisions holding that generally there is no due process right to pretrial discovery. State's Brief at 16-20, citing *Jaffee v. Redmond*, 518 U.S. 1 (1996); *Weatherford v. Bursey*, 429 U.S. 545 (1977); and *Wardius v. Oregon*, 412 U.S. 470 (1973).

As the Court recognized in summarily rejecting the same claim two years ago, *Johnson*, 2013 WI 59, ¶2, the state's argument fails.

First, the Supreme Court's recognition of a federal privilege in *Jaffee* cannot control interpretation and application of a state evidentiary privilege or state criminal procedure. *State v. Gary M.B.*, 2004 WI 33, ¶17, 270 Wis. 2d 62, 676 N.W.2d 475 ("while decisions of the Supreme Court interpreting the Federal Rules of Evidence may be persuasive authority, they are not binding on this court." (Citation omitted)).

More importantly, however, the *Shiffra/Green* analysis is set up to protect both the defendant's right to a fair trial and the witness's privacy rights, with the decision whether to waive the privilege remaining entirely in the witness's hands. There is no conflict because the *Shiffra/Green* analysis does not force disclosure of privileged information since the witness can refuse consent. As the Supreme Court has recognized, moreover, *in camera* review preserves the privilege by preventing unwarranted disclosures of privileged information; consent to such review does not waive the privilege for other purposes. *United States v. Zolin*, 491 U.S. 554, 563-70 (1989); *see Solberg*, 211 Wis.2d at 386-87 (no release of information reviewed *in camera* absent further consent by witness).

Finally, as the state acknowledges, *Jaffee* itself recognized that the privilege must sometimes give way, noting as an example when "a serious threat of harm . . . can be averted only by means of a disclosure by the therapist." 518 U.S. at 18; *see* State's Brief at 16. Under any reasonable standard, the threat of a conviction resulting from a witness's concealment of information that likely is necessary to a fair determination of guilt or innocence or is material to the defense of the accused is a serious threat of harm. *See Johnson v. Rogers Mem'l Hosp.*, 2005 WI 114, ¶¶64-65 (noting "seriousness of being falsely accused a child abuser"); *id.*, ¶80 (Prosser, J., Concurring) (same).

Second, contrary to the state's mistaken premise, the *Shiffra* Court did not hold that *Ritchie* mandated the analysis this Court has since approved. Rather, *Ritchie* provided guidance on how to appropriately balance and protect the rights of both the defendant and the witness. The holding in *Shiffra* was not that *Ritchie* mandated the analysis in this particular situation, but that "[p]ublic policy and the history of our judicial system require that Wisconsin's courts embrace *Ritchie in the manner prescribed by our court* in *K.K.C.* and *S.H.*" 175 Wis.2d at 612 (emphasis added).

The courts in *Shiffra*, *Green*, and the many other cases that have applied the *Shiffra/Green* standard over the past 20+ years were confronted with a conflict between the "goals of confidential privilege and the right to put on a defense." *See Shiffra*, 175 Wis.2d at 611-12. They chose to address that conflict in a way that balanced and protected the defendant's right to a fair trial, the truth-seeking function of the trial, and the witness's rights to privacy. As already noted, *supra*, the same need for balancing would occur at trial, as the state's own authority acknowledges, *Goldsmith*, 651 A.2d at 874-77, and it was perfectly rational for Wisconsin's courts to decide as a matter of public policy that it makes more sense to address the issues prior to trial than to cause delay and inconvenience to the parties and the jury by deferring the balancing until mid-trial. *See* Section I,C, *supra*.

Accordingly, there is no conflict between the *Shiffra/Green* analysis and any United States Supreme Court decision.

# E. The *Shiffra/Green* Standard Provides No Unfair Advantage to Some Defendants but Not Others

The state's assertion that the *Shiffra/Green* analysis somehow is unfair is puzzling. State's Brief at 20-21. It is true that, as the state notes, *id.* at 45, it is the "rare" defendant who satisfies that standard by showing that the information sought likely is necessary to a fair determination of guilt or innocence or is material to the defense of the accused. However, the criminal justice system is rife with situations in which a particular defendant has better counsel, can afford experts, has serendipitously discovered evidence undermining the state's case, or the like. Neither the law nor common sense supports the state's theory that such defendants must be handicapped so they do not have a greater chance of a fair trial and acquittal than others who do not have those benefits. *Cf. State v. Jones*, 2010 WI 72, ¶14, 326 Wis.2d 380, 797 N.W.2d 378 (indigent defendants, unlike other defendants, have no constitutional right to counsel of choice).

II.

# THIS COURT SHOULD REJECT THE STATE'S ATTEMPT TO UNDERMINE THE CAREFUL BALANCING OF INTERESTS REFLECTED IN THE SHIFFRA/GREEN ANALYSIS BY OVERRULING THE ESTABLISHED EXCLUSION REMEDY

In *Shiffra*, the Court of Appeals recognized that, in circumstances where the witness chooses to assert the privilege to prevent disclosure for *in camera* review of information the court finds likely is necessary to a fair determination of guilt or innocence, the only appropriate remedy is to exclude evidence from that witness at trial. 175 Wis.2d at 612. The same remedy applies where the assertion of privilege prevents the subsequent disclosure to the defense of informa-

tion the court deems material to the defense of the accused. *E.g.*, *Johnson*, 2014 WI 16,  $\P$ 4-5.

As a fall-back argument to its attempt to overrule the *Shiffra/Green* standard altogether, the state suggests that the Court should overrule that portion of the standard which requires exclusion of evidence from a witness who seeks to conceal information necessary to a fair assessment of that witness's testimony. State's Brief at 23-33. In its place, the state seeks to impose a squishy, case-by-case balancing test. *Id.* at 23-29.

The state's argument fails for a number of reasons. First, as this Court noted in the rehearing decision in *Johnson* where it rejected the same argument, "[t]he decision to produce and the consequence of whether testimony is allowed cannot be separated." 2014 WI 16, ¶5, citing *Green*, 253 Wis.2d 356, ¶37; *Shiffra*, 175 Wis.2d at 612; *see id*. ¶4. Each prong of the *Shiffra/Green* standard - restrictive conditions for ordering *in camera* review and for releasing any privileged information following that review, the witness's right to bar disclosure of privileged information, and the exclusion remedy necessary to protect the truth-seeking function of the trial and the defendant's rights to present a defense should the witness exercise that right - is necessary to achieve the goal of the standard to protect *all* of those interests. Lopping off any of those prongs undermines one or more of those interests.

Second, the only alternative to exclusion the state proposed in the lower courts here was involuntary disclosure under Wis. Stat. §146.82(2)(a)4. *See* State's Court of Appeals Brief at 2, 25-33. (R81:6-7). Although the state still does not suggest any other alternative in its opening brief, it therefore has forfeited any argument seeking some other alternative to the exclusion remedy. *See Tatera v. FMC Corp.*, 2010 WI 90, ¶19 n.16, 328 Wis.2d 320, 786 N.W.2d 810 ("Arguments raised for the first time on appeal are generally deemed forfeited.").

Third, the state repeatedly posits the wrong question by mistakenly assuming that the witness's privilege and the defendant's right to fair trial conflict. The *Shiffra/Green* standard and its exclusion

remedy insures that there is no conflict between the defendant's fair trial rights and the witness's privacy rights by guaranteeing that the witness always has the final say in whether private counseling records are disclosed. The witness's rights are protected by both the strict showing required for *in camera* review and for subsequent disclosure and by the witness's ability to bar disclosure. At the same time, the defendant's rights and the truth-seeking function of the trial are protected by the exclusion of evidence from that witness should he or she refuse to disclose the information the court had found likely is necessary to a fair determination of guilt or innocence or is material to the defense of the accused.

Thus, this Court need not consider, as the state erroneously suggests, *see* State's Brief at 29, whether the defendant's right to a fair trial "should trump the witness's privilege" or "the State's interest in enforcing evidentiary privileges." Similarly, this Court need not consider whether the defendant's right "must be subordinated to the witness's right to privacy." *Id.* at 32.

Fourth, the state's argument for application of a separate balancing test after application of the Shiffra/Green standard overlooks the fact that standard itself resulted from exactly such a balancing of interests, rendering any additional balancing redundant. In developing the analysis for assessing a request for *in camera* review, the courts balanced the defendant's right to present a defense, the fact that the defendant necessarily could not know what in fact is in privileged documents, the witness's right to the privilege, and the limited nature of disclosure merely for in camera review. See, e.g., Green, 2002 WI 68, ¶¶31-35; Solberg, 211 Wis.2d at 387; Shiffra, 175 Wis.2d at 608-10. In developing the analysis of whether to disclose any or all of the information reviewed to the defense, the courts similarly took into account the defendant's need for the information to present a complete defense and the witness's right to prevent disclosure of unnecessary information. Solberg, 211 Wis.2d at 386-87. All the while, the standard protects the witness's right to the privilege by granting him or her the ability to prevent any disclosure and protects the defendant's rights and the truth-seeking function of the trial by excluding evidence from the

witness who chooses to exercise that right. *See generally* Section I,A, *supra*.

In fact, each of the three "factors" identified by the state as relevant to its proposed balancing test, State's Brief at 29-33, is either irrelevant or already accounted for in creating the Shiffra/Green analysis. "Whether the defendant has access to non-privileged evidence that would support his defense," State's Brief at 29-30, already is accounted for by Green's requirement that cumulative evidence must not be disclosed. 2002 WI 68, ¶¶33-34. Whatever alleged trauma that may result "from review of the records without consent," State's Brief at 30-31, is irrelevant to the Shiffra/Green analysis because any review of those records would never be "without consent." Under *Shiffra/Green*, the witness retains the absolute right not to consent to the release of privileged documents. Finally, the "time frame encompassed by the records compared to the dates of the charged crimes and the date on which the witness reported the crime," State's Brief at 31-32, already is fully accounted for in the court's assessment of whether the information: (1) likely is necessary to a fair determination of guilt or innocence, as required for *in camera* review, or (2) is material to the defense of the accused, as required for disclosure to the defense following such review. See, e.g., Shiffra, 175 Wis.2d at 607. Relevance and probative value are the essence of these assessments.

Fifth, the state's proposed post-*Shiffra/Green* rebalancing test is unworkable in practice, at least where the witness refuses to disclose privileged information for *in camera* review. If the defense meets the restrictive standard for *in camera* review but the witness refuses to disclose the information for such review, neither the court nor the parties have any additional information to "balance" beyond what already led the court to hold that the concealed records likely contain non-cumulative information "necessary to a determination of guilt or innocence." *Green*, 2002 WI 68, ¶34. The state fails to suggest how the court is to determine, in essence, that the concealment of information it already has determined likely is necessary to a fair determination of guilt or innocence is nonetheless harmless.9

In the end, the state also leaves undeveloped any argument regarding what the result of its proposed post-*Shiffra/Green* rebalancing should be beyond compelled disclosure over the witness's assertion of privilege. As the *Shiffra* Court explained in rejecting any alternative but exclusion, and the state here does not dispute, contempt is inappropriate because the witness is not obligated to consent to the disclosure and an adjournment is of no benefit because the undisclosed information would still be unavailable. 175 Wis.2d at 612.

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